
Area Planning Committee (South and West)

Date Thursday 19 February 2015
Time 2.00 pm
Venue Council Chamber, Council Offices, Spennymoor

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Declarations of Interest (if any)  
4. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 December 2014  (Pages 1 - 6)
5. Applications to be determined
  

a) DM/14/02040/FPA - Dovecot Hill, South Church, DL14 6TA  
(Pages 7 - 28)
Erection of 61 dwellings with associated infrastructure works and 
access

b) DM/14/03652/VOC - Glencrest, Butterknowle, DL13 5LW  (Pages 
29 - 36)
Removal of condition 7 of permission 6/2010/0083/DM 
(occupancy condition)

6. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
11 February 2015



To: The Members of the Area Planning Committee (South and West)

Councillor M Dixon (Chairman)
Councillor H Nicholson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors J Buckham, D Bell, D Boyes, J Clare, K Davidson, 
E Huntington, S Morrison, A Patterson, G Richardson, L Taylor, 
R Todd, C Wilson and S Zair

Contact:  Jill Errington Tel: 03000 269703



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Area Planning Committee (South and West) held in Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Spennymoor on Thursday 11 December 2014 at 2.00 pm

Present:

Councillor H Nicholson (Vice-Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors M Dixon, J Buckham, D Bell, D Boyes, J Clare, K Davidson, E Huntington, 
G Richardson, L Taylor, R Todd, C Wilson and S Zair

Also Present:
A Caines – Principal Planning Officer
S Pilkington – Senior Planning Officer
C Cuskin – Solicitor (Planning and Development)
A Glenwright – Highways Officer
 

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M Dixon, Chairman (for 
applications numbered 5(a) and (b) on the Agenda), and Councillors S Morrison 
and A Patterson.  

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2014 were agreed as a correct 
record and were signed by the Chairman.

5 Applications to be determined 

5a DM/14/02713/FPA - Butterby Grange, Neville Close, Spennymoor 

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an 
application for the demolition of existing buildings and erection of 14no. apartments 
and associated infrastructure (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



S Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation on the 
application which included photographs of the site. 

In presenting the report the Officer advised of an amendment to the 
recommendation. The scheme proposed 14 units which was below the threshold for 
the provision of affordable housing and as such was not a policy requirement.

Councillor Boyes considered that this was a very good scheme and was pleased to 
note the amount of social accommodation the proposed development would provide 
in the area. He moved approval of the application.

Councillor Davidson concurred with Councillor Boyes and in seconding approval of 
the application noted that this was a brownfield site which was suitable for the type 
of development proposed by Livin Homes. 

Resolved:

That the application be approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report and 
to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure £14,000 towards the 
provision/maintenance of open space and recreation facilities in the locality. 

5b DM/14/01692/OUT - Land opposite High View Country House, Low 
Road, Kirk Merrington 

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an 
outline application (all matters reserved with the exception of means of access) for 
the erection of up to 49 dwellings and 2000 sq ft of retail floor space (use class A1) 
with associated landscape and infrastructure (for copy see file of Minutes).

S Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation on the 
application which included photographs of the site. Members had visited the site 
and were familiar with the location and setting.

The Chairman invited local residents who were against the application to address 
the Committee. 

Mr Foster stated that planning permission for residential development on this 
greenfield site had previously been refused. He noted that Highways Officers were 
satisfied with the proposals but there had been a number of concerns expressed by 
residents about the safety of the junction at the Fox and Hounds Public House. A 
traffic survey which found that at peak times there would be only one vehicle every 
7-8 minutes in the morning and one every 6-7 minutes in the evening was 
inaccurate. 

The shop would be in close proximity to busy junctions, and pedestrians would 
have to cross two roads. Access to and from the development was directly onto a 
busy main road.

Page 2



In conclusion he referred to the capacity of the school which was already over-
subscribed.

Mrs Lidster considered that Kirk Merrington did not need further housing 
development, advising that there were a number of empty properties on nearby 
Beckwith Close. There was no support for the shop which would be adjacent to a 
fast and dangerous road, and there were already traffic problems through the 
village. The shop would be situated on the existing pub car park and she asked 
where customers of the Fox and Hounds would park their vehicles.

Mr Little stated that the development would constitute an intrusion in the village. 
The report stated that the development was deemed to be acceptable in highway 
terms with no formal traffic assessment necessary, however he felt that 
consideration had not been given to the additional danger presented by the 
entrance and exit to the shop. In addition the traffic statement had been based on a 
census from 2001. Some traffic measurement had been carried out in August 2014 
but the findings were flawed as it was carried out during the school holiday period.

With regard to the proposed shop he noted that One Stop, a subsidiary of Tesco 
were interested, however he advised that historically shops had failed in the village 
and questioned the company’s interest in the location.  

Mr Jennings referred to Planning Policy and the NPPF. This development did not 
comply with policy requirements. The site would not enhance the village, would 
spoil the character and charm of Kirk Merrington, and would extend the settlement 
boundary. He also questioned the need for additional housing in the village. The 
SHLAA had not identified a need for major development in Kirk Merrington and 
there was available housing a mile away on a brownfield site.

Mr Baister, the applicant was invited to address the Committee. He advised that he 
had lived next to the site for 18 years and cared about the future of the village. The 
proposals would help to sustain and maintain the vitality of Kirk Merrington. The 
report assessed the proposals against relevant planning policies and against the 
wider principles of the NPPF, however he felt that there were sufficient planning 
grounds to depart from policy.          

In preparing the scheme he had worked closely with the Local Planning Authority, 
had distributed leaflets to residents and had carried out informal public consultation. 
Only 19 objections had been received from a population of 1800.

The proposed development was deliverable, providing much needed housing, 
including affordable homes and bungalows.    

The fully refurbished pub created 14 jobs and the store with post office was a much 
needed scheme which would create additional part time and full time employment.        

A financial contribution would fund improvements to the school building, children’s 
safety and access, and a much-needed drop-off area. He was also willing to make 
a contribution towards off-site sports and recreational facilities.

Page 3



Mr Yeels advised that One Stop was a wholly owned subsidiary of Tesco PLC 
which would only invest in locations where there was a viable catchment. The 
company were constantly looking for new sites and considered that a shop in Kirk 
Merrington would promote the viability of the village.

Mrs Bainbridge, a local resident spoke in support of the application. She considered 
that this was a much-needed development which would support the public house. 
The site would be compatible and sympathetic to the character of the village. It 
would also provide some much needed affordable housing. Residents were 
concerned about highway safety but she felt that the highway network should be 
improved by the Highways Authority with or without the proposed development.                    

A Glenwright, Highways Officer was invited to address residents’ concerns about 
highway safety at the two main road junctions. He advised that in the five years 
since the submitted Transport Assessment had been produced only two traffic 
collisions had been recorded involving right turning vehicles, one in July 2009 at the 
B6287 West View/B6287 Merrington Road junction and the other in April 2011 at 
the B6287 West View/B6287 Low Road junction. 

With regard to the traffic survey referred to by Mr Foster he advised that the figures 
quoted related to the number of additional vehicles that would be generated by the 
development.  This represented an increase in traffic generation of 3% in the 
morning and 2% in the evening.  

A traffic survey carried out by the Police across a morning period had shown some 
excessive speeds, however a week long survey carried out by the Highways 
Authority had recorded 85 percentile speeds of 27mph with an average speed of 
22mph.
   
With regard to the junction arrangements he acknowledged that there were 
difficulties in terms of visibility but the low number of accidents compared to vehicle 
numbers demonstrated the due care and attention shown by motorists. It was 
therefore concluded that the proposals were deemed to be acceptable in highway 
terms.

Councillor J Buckham stated that having visited the site the settlement boundary 
was obvious because of the local topography and the proposals would constitute an 
intrusion into the local countryside. He appreciated when residents felt that facilities 
in a village were disappointing but in this case was outweighed by the reasons for 
refusal detailed in the Planning Officer’s report. He therefore moved that the 
application be refused.   

Councillor Richardson was of the view that determining applications of this nature 
was always a fine balance between allowing development beyond the settlement 
boundary and ensuring the sustainability of a village, and he could see both 
positives and negatives to these proposals. He sought clarification in respect of the 
planning history for the site and the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that a 
planning application had been refused in 1989.

Page 4



In concurring with the views of Councillors Buckham and Richardson, Councillor 
Clare acknowledged Mr Baister’s argument in support of the proposals, however 
could not ignore that the site was not included in the emerging County Durham 
Plan. The application did not meet criteria contained in Policy 15 of the County 
Durham Plan and constituted development in the open countryside, contrary to 
Policy 35.

The Member had given regard to the size of the proposed development. At 49 
houses this would constitute 12% of the overall number of properties in Kirk 
Merrington. This was a huge development for a village of this size. Councillor Clare 
seconded the motion to refuse the application.

Resolved:

That the application be refused for the reasons set out in the report.     

Councillor D Boyes left and Councillor M Dixon entered the meeting. 

5c DM/14/03009/FPA - Land adjacent to Wellgarth, Hamsterley, Bishop 
Auckland 

Consideration was given to the report of the Principal Planning Officer regarding an 
application for the erection of dwelling (resubmission of 6/2013/0397/DM) (for copy 
see file of Minutes).

A Caines, Principal Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation on the application 
which included photographs of the site. Members had visited the site and were 
familiar with the location and setting.

In presenting the report the Officer advised that in assessing the impact of the 
proposed development on the setting and significance of the surrounding heritage 
assets, consideration had been given to Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the revised proposals were 
deemed to be acceptable. 

Mr Kirtley addressed the Committee on behalf of his son who lived at the adjacent 
Peartree Cottage. He explained that the driveway was in the ownership of his son’s 
property but the developer had rights of access across it. This was the only access 
to the rear entrance door of the cottage and the garden, and he was concerned for 
the safety of his grandchildren who played there.  He believed that the access 
would not only be used by family cars but by larger vehicles such as horse boxes.

The access also crossed the village green and to overcome this grasscrete had 
been laid to protect the surface. However this was for use by light vehicles and he 
believed that larger vehicles would have a detrimental impact on the surface.

The developer owned the property to the west of the site which had a large 
concrete area and he suggested that this be divided into two separate driveways, 
one of which could be used as an access to the proposed development.

Page 5



Mr Ridgeon, the applicant’s agent stated that this resubmission application aimed to 
address the previous reasons for refusal. The proposals respected the historical 
importance of the site and was set back from the dry stone wall along the frontage. 
The site was within the development limits of Hamsterley and took into account the 
character of the village. The revised proposals were reduced in scale and were 
deemed to be acceptable in Design and Conservation terms.

The access was considered to be acceptable by the Highways Authority, there 
would be no damage to the surface of the village green and vehicles would be 
travelling at slow speeds. These access arrangements were not unusual across the 
County and was a civil matter. 

A full heritage assessment had been carried out and whilst the comments of the 
Landscape Section were noted he reiterated that there were no objections from 
Design and Conservation.

There was a recognised need for new housing in County Durham and this form of 
development in rural areas was supported by Planning Policy. There was also a 
recognised need for bungalow accommodation.  

The Highways Officer advised that an assessment of the access had concluded 
that it was acceptable in terms of highway safety, and confirmed that right of access 
was a civil matter.

Councillor J Buckham noted that the Parish Council had called the application to 
Committee and expressed disappointment that they were not represented. Having 
looked at the site and considered the effort put into the design by the developer he 
was of the view that it was an exceptionally high quality in-fill development with an 
unassuming impact, and located in a popular village.  The proposals would not 
obscure the views enjoyed by Peartree Cottage. 

Councillor Richardson advised that he lived in the village and expressed 
disappointment that the recent owners of Peartree Cottage had chosen to object to 
the application. Concerns put forward had been addressed and the applicant had 
revised the application to the satisfaction of Planning Officers, as outlined in the 
report. 

Councillor Clare noted that there were other new developments taking place in this 
area which were close to the site. The design was exemplary and although he was 
generally not in favour of in-fill development this application fully accorded with the 
NPPF and Policy 15 of the emerging County Durham Plan.

It was moved by Councillor Buckham and seconded by Councillor Davidson that the 
application be approved.

Resolved:

That that the application be approved subject to the conditions outlined in the 
report.

Page 6



Planning Services

COMMITTEE REPORT
APPLICATION DETAILS

APPLICATION NO: DM/14/02040/FPA

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: Erection of 61 dwellings with associated infrastructure 
works and access.

NAME OF APPLICANT: Mr Chris Dodds, Gleeson Homes  

ADDRESS: Dovecot Hill, South Church, Durham, DL14 6TA

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Shildon and Dene

CASE OFFICER: Steven Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer,
03000 263964, steven.pilkington@durham.gov.uk 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS

1. The application site measures 1.57ha in area. It was previously used as allotments, 
but has now returned to agriculture. Site levels are relatively flat, however beyond 
the northern boundary the land level falls steeply to the River Gaunless. The site sits 
adjacent to the Longfield Road industrial estate with separation on the western 
boundary provided by a Public Right of Way with a line of hedge/trees predominantly 
down the eastern side of the path; and to the south by a tree line and the public 
highway Dovecot Hill. To the east are terraced dwellings along Bigland Terrace, 
West View and Rosemount Court. 

2. Full detailed planning permission is sought for the erection of 61 dwellings, including 
a new access and associated infrastructure works. The dwellings would be a mix of 
two storey brick built detached, semi-detached properties and terraced properties 
providing 2, 3 and 4 beds. The new vehicular access is proposed to be created from 
Dovecot Hill with the existing access being stopped up.

3. This application is being reported to Planning Committee in accordance with the 
Scheme of Delegation as it falls within the definition of a major development. 

PLANNING HISTORY

4. The site was previously used for private allotments, however this use ceased in 
approximately 2013 and the site has reverted to an agricultural use.  

PLANNING POLICY
Page 7

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:steven.pilkington@durham.gov.uk


NATIONAL POLICY 

5. The Government has consolidated all planning policy statements, guidance notes 
and many circulars into a single policy statement, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), although the majority of supporting Annexes to the planning 
policy statements are retained. The overriding message is that new development 
that is sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the role of planning in 
achieving sustainable development under three topic headings – economic, social 
and environmental, each mutually dependant. 

6. The presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF requires 
local planning authorities to approach development management decisions 
positively, utilising twelve ‘core planning principles’. The following elements of the 
NPPF are considered relevant to this proposal.

7. Part 1 – Building a strong, competitive economy. The Government is committed to 
securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the 
country’s inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global 
competition and a low carbon future.

8. Part 4 – Promoting sustainable transport. Transport policies have an important role 
to play in facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider 
sustainability and health objectives. The transport system needs to be balanced in 
favour of sustainable transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they 
travel. However, the Government recognises that different policies and measures will 
be required in different communities and opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions will vary from urban to rural areas.

9. Part 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes.  To boost significantly the 
supply of housing, applications should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

10. Part 7 – Requiring Good Design. The Government attaches great importance to the 
design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of sustainable 
development, indivisible from good planning.

11. Part 8 – Promoting Healthy Communities.  The planning system can play an 
important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities.  Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning 
Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and 
community facilities.  An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and services should be adopted.

12. Part 10 – Climate Change. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change. Planning plays a key role in helping shape places to secure radical 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing 
resilience to the impacts of climate change, and supporting the delivery of renewable 
and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. This is central to the economic, 
social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development.

13. Part 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. The planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting 
and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils; 
recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by 

Page 8



establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 
future pressures; preventing both new and existing development from contributing to 
or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability; and remediating and 
mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where 
appropriate.

14. Part 12 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Local planning 
authorities should set out in their Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation 
and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk 
through neglect, decay or other threats. In doing so, they should recognise that 
heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve them in a manner 
appropriate to their significance.

LOCAL PLAN POLICY: 

15. In accordance with paragraph 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the 
weight to be attached to relevant saved local plan policies will depend upon the 
degree of consistency with the NPPF.  The greater the consistency, the greater the 
weight. The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the 
assessment section of the report, however, the following policies of the Sedgefield 
Borough Local Plan are considered relevant.

16. Policy GD1 - General Development Criteria - All new development and 
redevelopment within the District should be designed and built to a high standard 
and should contribute to the quality and built environment of the surrounding area.

17. Policy BE1 - Protection of Historic Heritage - Seeks to conserve the historic heritage 
of the area by the maintenance, protection and enhancement of features and areas 
of particular historic, architectural or archaeological interest.

18. Policy BE14 - Open Spaces - Sets out that open spaces which contribute to the 
character and amenity of the area within the defined development limits will be 
protected from development. 

19. Policy BE17 - Areas of Archaeological Interest - Requires a pre-determination 
archaeological assessment where development affects areas of archaeological 
interest. Where possible the remains will be preserved in-situ.

20. Policy H3 - Distribution of Development - New development will be directed to those 
towns and villages best able to support it. Within the limits to development of towns 
and villages, as shown on the Proposals Map, development will be allowed provided 
it meets the criteria in Policy GD1 and conforms to the other policies of the plan.

21. Policy H15 - Affordable Housing - The Council will, where a relevant local need has 
been established, seek to negotiate with developers for the inclusion of an 
appropriate element of affordable housing.

22. Policy H22 - Community Benefit - On sites of 10 or more dwellings the local authority 
will seek to negotiate with developers a contribution, where appropriate, to the 
provision and subsequent maintenance of related social, community and/or 
recreational facilities in the locality.

23. Policy H24 - Residential Design Criteria - New residential developments and/or 
redevelopments will be approved provided they accord with the design criteria set 
out in the local plan.

Page 9



24. Policy T1 – Highways - Sets out that all developments which generate additional 
traffic will be required to fulfil Policy GD1 and; provide adequate access to the 
developments; not exceed the capacity of the local road network; and, be capable of 
access by public transport networks.

EMERGING PLAN:
 
25. The emerging County Durham Plan was submitted in April 2014 and is currently 

undergoing an Examination in Public. In accordance with paragraph 216 of the 
NPPF, decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to: the stage of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to relevant policies; and, the degree of consistency of the 
policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF. Further, the Planning 
Practice Guidance explains that in limited circumstances permission can be 
justifiably refused on prematurity grounds: when considering substantial 
developments that may prejudice the plan-making process and when the plan is at 
an advanced stage of preparation (i.e. it has been Submitted). To this end, the 
following policies contained in the Submission Version are considered relevant to the 
determination of the application:

26. Policy 1 – Sustainable Development – Outlines that when considering development 
proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development contained within the NPPF. The policy also 
outlines that where there are no relevant polices to the application the council will 
grant permission for sustainable development.

27. Policy 3 - Quantity of New Development - Sets out the levels of development 
required over the plan period in order to meet the needs and aspirations of present 
and future residents of County Durham. At least 31,400 new homes of mixed types, 
size and tenure are required.

28. Policy 4 - Distribution of Development - Sets out the broad distribution patterns for 
new development across the County, and in particular sets out a housing allocation 
for south Durham of 10,420. 

29. Policy 5 – Developer Contributions – Sets out that where appropriate new 
development will be required to contribute to the provision, and or improvement of 
physical, social and environmental infrastructure taking into account the nature of the 
proposal. It is also highlighted that in circumstances where the viability of the 
scheme is in question the developer will be required to demonstrate that there is a 
case through a site specific financial evaluation.

30. Policy 15 – Development on Unallocated Sites in Built up Areas – Sets out all 
development on sites in built up areas that are not allocated in the County Durham 
Plan will be permitted providing that the development is appropriate in scale, design 
and location to the character and function of the settlement, does not result in the 
settlements last community building or facility and is compatible with and does not 
prejudice any intended use of adjacent sites and land uses.

31. Policy 18 – Local Amenity – Permission will not be granted for sensitive land uses 
where they would be put at risk from sources of nuisance or intrusion which could 
adversely affect amenity and which cannot be mitigated acceptably.  

32. Policy 20 – Green Infrastructure – Sets out that developments will be expected to 
conserve and where required improve and extend the county’s green infrastructure 

Page 10



network. Development proposals that would result in the loss of existing green 
infrastructure will be refused unless the affected site or feature does not have a 
significant recreational or ecological function, the site can be demonstrated surplus 
to requirements or a compensatory amount of green infrastructure can be provided 
in the local area. 

33. Policy 31- Addressing Housing Need - Sets out qualifying thresholds and 
requirements for affordable housing provision together with the provision of a range 
of specialist housing.

34. Policy 34 – Type and mix of housing need - On all new housing developments the 
Council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, taking 
account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability and 
market considerations and the opportunity to facilitate self-build schemes.

35. Policy 39 – Landscape Character. Proposals for new development will only be 
permitted where they would not cause significant harm to the character, quality or 
distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features or views, unless the 
benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts.

36. Policy 41 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity – Proposals for new development will not 
be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity and geodiversity cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated or as a last report compensated for. 

37. Policy 44 – Historic Environment – Sets out that development will be required to 
conserve the fabric, character, setting and cultural significance of designated and 
non-designated heritage assets. Development that will lead to substantial harm or 
loss of a heritage asset will not be permitted unless in exceptional circumstances. 

38. Policy 46 – Water Management – Requires that all development proposals will be 
required to consider the affect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on 
and off site. A Flood risk assessment will be required where appropriate.  

39. Policy 47 - Contaminated and unstable land – Development will not be permitted 
unless the developer can demonstrate that any contamination or unstable land 
issues will be addressed by appropriate mitigation top ensure the site is suitable for 
the proposed use. 

40. Policy 48 – Delivering Sustainable Transport – New developments should 
accommodate sustainable modes of transport and provide appropriate, well design, 
permeable and direct routes for all modes of transport and that traffic generated by 
the development can be safely accommodated on the strategic highway network 
without causing additional congestion.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full text, criteria, 
and justifications of each may be accessed at 

http://content.durham.gov.uk/PDFRepository/SedgefieldLPSavedPolicies.pdf and 

http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/ 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES

STATUTORY RESPONSES:

41. Highway Authority – Consider that the proposed access to the site would be better 
served being offset from the adjacent industrial access, however overall the 
submitted scheme is considered acceptable. In terms of parking provision the 

Page 11

http://content.durham.gov.uk/PDFRepository/SedgefieldLPSavedPolicies.pdf
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/


scheme would meet residential parking standards while the surrounding access is 
capable of accommodating the increase traffic flows. 

42. Environment Agency – Offer standing advice in relation to the scheme. 

43. Northumbrian Water Limited – Request a condition requiring the submission of a 
detailed scheme for the disposal of surface and foul water from the scheme before 
development commences. 

44. Dene Valley Parish Council – Raise objections due to the loss of the public open 
space, traffic generation, access restrictions and lack of play facilities. 

INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:

45. Spatial Policy Section – Advise that the site is contained within the settlement of 
Bishop Auckland which is a main town identified for growth in the County Durham 
Plan. This site is well related to the town with good access by public transport to the 
town centre. Although the development of the site would conflict with saved policy 
BE14 of the Wear Valley Local Plan, the allotment use of the site which warranted 
the BE14 designation has now ceased. Then the principle of developing the site for 
housing would accord with other the policies of the WVLP and the NPPF objective of 
locating housing in suitable locations which offer a good range of community facilities 
and with good access to jobs, key services and infrastructure. The development will 
help meet the needs of different groups in the community such as families with 
children and people wishing to live within the town. 

46. Design and Historic Environment Section – Offer no objection to the scheme 
advising that the development would have a neutral impact on the setting of a Grade 
I Listed church to the north of the site. 

47. Landscape Section – Offer advice on improvements to the perimeter treatment of the 
site including the northern and eastern boundaries. It is also recommended that to 
the Public Right of Way to the west of the site the proposed boundary fence should 
be set back off the existing hedge line and appropriate maintenance and planting 
work be carried out. 

48. Arboricultural Officer – Raises concerns regarding the proximity of the fence to 
existing trees on the western boundary and the need to ensure that an adequate 
green buffer is retained between the industrial units and the development. 
Suggestions are also made on the type of tree species proposed in the planting 
schedule. 

49. Archaeology Section - Offers no objections, subject to the development being carried 
out in accordance with the submitted scheme of Archaeological Investigation, 
recording and evaluation.

50. Access and Rights of Way Section – Offer no objection but connections from the 
development into surrounding Public Rights of Way network are encouraged. 

51. Sustainable Travel Section – Advise that connections to surrounding Public Rights of 
Way should be encouraged wil consideration should also be given to improvement to 
these paths

52. Ecology Section – Follow the submission of additional information no objections are 
raised, subject to the proposed mitigation measures detailed in the submitted 
ecological survey.

Page 12



53. Environmental Health Unit – Advise that after considering the submitted noise 
reports, the methodologies are considered sound and the proposed mitigation 
measures are considered acceptable. Therefore no objections to the scheme are 
raised subject to conditions requiring the installation of the mitigation measures 
detailed in the submitted acoustic assessments. It is also recommended to control 
the working hours on site and incorporated measures to supress noise and dust 
during construction. 

54. Contaminated Land Section -Recommends the imposition of conditions requiring 
further site investigation, subsequent remediation and submission of validation 
information thereafter.

55. School Organisation Manager – Advises that there is sufficient capacity in existing 
schools to accommodate the likely number of pupils generated by the development.

56. Sustainability Officer – Advises that the site should reduce surface water run off, 
improve pedestrian connectivity while. The Carbon reduction initiatives proposed  
would be required to be embedded within the development, and controlled by 
condition should permission be granted. An offsite contribution for offsite sport and 
recreation should also be secured. 

57. NHS Trust – No response received

58. Housing Officer - States that an affordable requirement of 10% would be expected 
on this site.

59. Drainage and Coastal Protection Team - Advise that a surface water drainage 
scheme should be developed prior to the commencement of development which 
utilises soakaways where appropriate, limiting discharge from the development to 
greenfield run off rates.

PUBLIC RESPONSES:

60. The application has been publicised by way of press and site notice, and individual 
notification letters to neighbouring residents. 21 letters of objection have been 
received from neighbouring residents and surrounding businesses in relation to the 
issues below:- 

- The proposal represents development on a green field site which is 
protected from development in policies within the Wear Valley Local Plan. 
The site is currently used as open space and forms part of the Green Belt 
and should be protected.  The need for the development within South 
Church is questioned, the County Durham Plan does not propose an 
housing in the area. No affordable housing is proposed within the 
development. 

- There are no facilities within the immediate area for future occupants to use 
while a strain will be placed on existing services by an increase in the 
population.

- There is no play provision on the site for future residents to use while 
existing play areas are only accessed across busy roads. 

- Concerns are raised regarding a loss of residential amenity through a loss 
of outlook due to the separation distances to the properties and proposed 

Page 13



boundary treatments. The development of the open space will impact on the 
view experienced by properties bordering the site while disruption will be 
caused through the construction of the dwellings and once they are 
occupied.

- The development would result in the loss of value of existing properties 
while restricting access for maintenance. 

- Concerns are raised regarding the loss of the character of the village and 
the impact on surrounding historic buildings and potential archaeological 
interests. The design of the buildings does not relate to existing housing 
stock. 

- The existing road network cannot accommodate additional traffic while there 
would be conflict with industrial uses. The poor condition of existing roads in 
the vicinity of the site is highlighted. 

- The development would have a negative impact the ecological interest of 
this greenfield site.  

- Objections are raised regarding the potential conflict between existing 
operations on the adjacent industrial site and future residnents due to the 
nature of the operations and the noise and smells generated on a 24hr 
basis. The proposed noise mitigation is questioned and concerns are raised 
that residents would make complaints to the Council regarding the noise 
which would impact on business operations and the ability to expand. The 
industrial site is designated in the local plan and its status should be 
protected. 

APPLICANTS STATEMENT: 

61. Gleeson Homes and Regeneration are part of the MJ Gleeson Group and specialise 
in the regeneration of brownfield sites for the development of quality new homes. 
Accordingly, the application hereby submitted proposes the erection of 61 new 
dwellings comprising a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom terraced, semi-detached and 
detached housetypes.

62. At present, as the site is not in active use and is vacant it attracts fly tipping and the 
area suffers from antisocial behaviour. It arguably does not conribute to the local 
community other than offering a potential location for youths to gather and cause 
problems. The location of the site in a residential area and the provision of bus 
services in close proximity along with amenities and services, mean that the site 
meets the Councils targets and policies. It also meets the aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework in seeking to promote the use of previously 
developed sites and the provision of residential development in sustainable 
locations. The Council has accepted that no affordable housing will be required on 
this site, as to do so would threaten the viability of the scheme as a whole. We have 
submitted viability assessment evidence to clarify this, however off-site contributions 
towards open space provision are proposed. Gleeson will also strive to employ local 
people and we understand the importance of involving the local community during 
construction of our developments as well as leaving a legacy once works are 
complete.

63. The Site provides a sustainable development opportunity and would contribute to the 
provision of a mix of housing size, types and affordability in the area, particularly 
promoting family housing and appropriate dwellings which allow people to stay in 

Page 14



their local community. The site provides ready access to local amenities, schools 
and employment sites and is considered sustainable.

64. All criteria required to be complied with in Saved Policies requirements have been 
taken into account through the evolution of the scheme, resulting in a well-designed 
proposal that responds to the specifics of the site, both in terms of layout but also the 
design of the elevational treatment. It must also be noted that the proposals aim to 
deliver quality new homes to local people in addition to providing much needed new 
housing in this location.

The above represents a summary of the comments received on this application. The full written text is available for 
inspection on the application file which can be viewed at:

http://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N8QUJ8GDHBR00

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT

65. Having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and 
all other material planning considerations, including representations received, it is 
considered that the principal planning issues raised relate to the principle of 
development, the viability of the scheme, visual amenity of surrounding area, 
highway safety, amenity of adjacent land uses, ecological interests and drainage 
issues. 

The Principle of Development 

66. The application site is located within the settlement limits of Bishop Auckland, as 
defined by the Wear Valley Local Plan Proposals Map. Within these settlement 
limits, Policy H3 of the Local Plan identifies that windfall housing development will be 
considered acceptable in principle. In accordance with paragraph 215 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the weight to be attached to relevant saved local plan 
policies will depend upon the degree of consistency with the NPPF, the greater the 
consistency, the greater the weight. It is considered that the general approach of 
policy H3 in terms of directing development to settlements best able to support it and 
protecting the open countryside is consistent with the NPPF and the promotion of 
sustainable development. It is however recognised that the NPPF promotes a more 
flexible approach to settlement growth and does not preclude development on 
sustainably located greenfield sites.   

67. The NPPF also seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing, and planning 
applications are expected to be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. The NPPF sets out that Authorities should 
deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership 
and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities. Bishop Auckland is 
recognised as a main town within the emerging County Durham Plan (CDP) in 
recognition that it is a subregional centre in terms of its retail offer, and has a good 
range of employment opportunities and services. For these reasons the settlement is 
a focus for growth in the CDP (2,350 houses, 7ha of employment land). 

68. Policy 15 of the CDP makes provision for development on unallocated sites within 
built up areas. The CDP provides a definition of a built up area as being land 
contained within the main body of existing built development of a settlement 
identified in the Settlement Study or where the land is physically well contained by 
existing built development and its development would not result in coalescence with 
neighbouring settlements or encroachment into the countryside. In the context of the 
NPPF and CDP, this site constitutes a relatively sustainable location given the close 

Page 15

http://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N8QUJ8GDHBR00
http://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N8QUJ8GDHBR00
http://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N8QUJ8GDHBR00


proximity to the town centre and on account it is wholly contained within the 
settlement.

69. This site has previously been assessed as part of the development of the CDP and 
has a suitable (green) classification within the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA). It was not however carried through as a housing allocation 
within the emerging CDP as it was felt that South Church was a weak market area, 
unlikely to be attractive to house builders, and because it was still in use as allotment 
gardens. At that time no evidence had been provided to demonstrate there were no 
unresolved legal issues associated with the allotments tenancies, and under a 
precautionary approach to allocations the site was not selected as there was 
uncertainty over availability and deliverability. Given that this application has been 
submitted by a national house builder, the concerns regarding market attractiveness 
would appear to be unfounded and the private allotment tenancies have now 
ceased. 

70. On advice of the Councils Spatial Planning Policy Team the development of this site 
would not undermine the emerging CDP, or more specifically the suite of housing 
allocations identified within it. The scheme is for 61 units which relates to only 0.19% 
of the total housing requirement for County Durham and only 2.6% of the housing 
distribution for Bishop Auckland. In addition to this, there are existing housing 
commitments which are not coming forward for development as originally envisaged. 
Schemes such as this, which are backed by a housing developer can make a 
contribution to delivery of housing over the plan period. 

71. Part of the site is subject to Saved Policy BE14 of the Local Plan, which seeks to 
protect areas of open space within built up areas. The policy states that development 
of these areas is only permissible in instances where the land does not contribute 
positively to the character or amenity of the area. Consideration is given to this 
matter in detail below, however providing there is an acceptable visual impact the 
site is considered a suitable and sustainable location for new residential 
development. 

72. It is also noted that the Councils Open Space Need Assessment (OSNA) highlights 
that within this area of Bishop Auckland there is a significant over provision of 
Amenity Open Space and therefore there is no need to retain the Policy BE14 
protection.

73. It is therefore considered that notwithstanding the proposal being a departure to 
Wear Valley Local Plan Policy BE14, it is in accordance with Policy H3 of that Plan, 
as well as with the core principles of NPPF Part 6 and emerging policies 3, 4 and 15 
of the County Durham Plan. Therefore, subject to a detailed analysis of the impacts 
of the development the site is considered acceptable in principle for housing 
purposes.

Viability and Contributions 

74. Local Plan Policy H15 sets out that where a relevant local need has been 
established the inclusion of an appropriate element of affordable housing will be 
required within a housing development. Such a requirement is replicated in the 
NPPF.  As part of the emerging plan a significant amount of work has been directed 
towards assessing and evidencing the need for affordable housing throughout the 
County and the likely delivery of this through development proposals, while ensuring 
developments remain viable.  Policy 31 of the CDP sets a target figure for the 
provision of 10% of proposed dwellings to be provided as affordable housing within 
the South Durham area, including Bishop Auckland. 

Page 16



75. No affordable housing contributions are proposed as part of the scheme, and the 
applicant has stated that should this be a requirement the development proposed 
would be economically unviable. Paragraph 173 of the NPPF outlines the importance 
of viability as a material planning consideration, setting out that developments should 
not be subject to obligations which threaten their ability to be viably developed. This 
is recognised in policy 31 of the CDP which states that in applying affordable 
housing requirements the cost of developing the site and the impact of this on the 
viability of any proposed scheme will be taken into account. In circumstances where 
the viability of the scheme is in question, the developer will be required to 
demonstrate to the Council's satisfaction that this is the case.

76. Advice has been sought on this matter from the Council’s Assets and Spatial Policy 
Sections, which have considered in detail the submitted development appraisal for 
the site, including baseline costs against industry standards and reviewing the likely 
income generated from the development. Having tested these assumptions once the 
amount paid for the site and development costs are taken from expected sale values 
only around a 9% developers profit could actually be achieved, excluding any 
affordable housing provision. 

77. Having regard to the advice within the NPPF, it is accepted that the development 
could not deliver affordable housing provision without being unviable. Nevertheless, 
the developer remains keen to bring the development and the scheme does propose 
a mix of dwellings, including 2 bed semi-detached dwelling which would be expected 
to be priced at the lower end of the market. 

78. Notwithstanding the above, the development would fully comply with the 
requirements of Wear Valley Local Plan Policy H22 and Policy 20 of the emerging 
County Durham Plan in respect of offering a financial contribution of £61,000 
towards the provision or maintenance of open space and recreation facilities in the 
local area. This also accords with NPPF section 8.

79. The applicant has also made a commitment to providing local employment 
opportunities during the construction phase and is willing to enter into a training, 
recruitment and management employability plan, which would accord with the aims 
of policy 1(a) of the emerging County Durham Plan. This can be secured in the S106 
legal agreement.

Visual Impact and impact on Heritage Assets 

80. The application site was previously used as private allotments, however this has 
ceased and the site has reverted to an agricultural use with an undeveloped 
appearance. 

81. The site is currently subject to a protected open space designation in the Wear 
Valley Local Plan (BE14), which seeks to protect areas of open space within built up 
areas where the land contributes positively to the character or amenity of the area. 
However, that designation was applied to the site when it was in allotment use and it 
is not subject to any special designation in the emerging CDP. However, policy 39 
(Landscape Character) sets out that developments will only permitted where they 
would not cause significant harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of the 
landscape. Local Plan Policies GD1 and H24 also require that developments should 
be designed and built to a high standard which contributes to the quality of the built 
environment and has an acceptable impact on the surrounding landscape of the 
area. This is reflected within sections 7 and 11 of the NPPF which sets out that good 

Page 17



design is indivisible from good planning while also seeking to protect local 
landscapes. 

82. Consideration has been given to this matter by the Councils Landscape officer who 
raises no objection to the development of this site in a wider landscape context, 
while offering advice in terms of landscaping and boundary treatments. Although the 
site is visible from surrounding existing developments, it is not specifically viewed as 
an integral part of the wider open amenity space which principally extends up the 
Gaunless River Valley. This is due to a significant level change to the north of the 
site dropping down to the River Gaunless and the setting of the site between built 
development to the west, south and east. It is therefore considered that development 
of this site would not be viewed as an incursion into the landscape. The proposed 
tree planting along the northern boundary, although not substantial and confined 
within proposed gardens, would help to soften the appearance of the development 
when viewed from outside of site. The Council’s Landscape and Tree Sections would 
prefer this planting to be outside the gardens, but the land to the north is in private 
ownership so it is accepted that this would lead to maintenance difficulties.

83. There is a hedge and tree line along the western site boundary which provides the 
current boundary treatment to the adjacent Public Right of Way. It is currently over 
grown and in poor condition with a significant number of gaps, while a number of the 
hedge line trees are also in poor condition and individually offer no significant value. 
This vegetation does however provide an appropriate setting to the Public Right of 
Way and has the potential to help screen the proposed boundary treatments of a 
0.7m high bund and a 1.8m high acoustic fence offset from the centre line of the 
hedge. The Council’s Landscape and Tree Sections would prefer a greater gap to 
the new fence, but the applicant has instead indicated willingness to improve this 
hedge line through re stocking the hedge and removing deadwood and discarded 
building materials that have been dumped along the hedge line. This is a reasonable 
compromise that can be secured by a condition requiring a scheme of landscaping to 
be submitted and approved following the installation of the boundary fence. The 
Landscape Section has also suggested improving the boundary treatment to the 
north and east with external hedge planting and substitution of a section of fencing 
with continuation of an existing wall. These suggestions would undoubtedly improve 
the boundary treatment of the development, but would again create problems for 
maintenance of external planting with access required over private land and in the 
case of the suggestion for a wall, there is already a fence in place. Therefore while 
these suggestions are desirable, we could not insist that they be incorporated into 
the scheme. 

84. In appraising the scale, layout and design of the proposed development, it is 
recognised that the site is already contained by existing adjacent developments in an 
area with no special, strong character or vernacular. The presence of the industrial 
estate to the west and south do not encourage integration and an inward focused 
development as proposed is a natural result. The scheme layout and design 
represents a practical use of the development site with an adequately workable 
layout for the context and active frontages achieved in appropriate locations. 
Observations received have commented on the simple quality and detailing of the 
proposed house types, but in the context of the adjacent industrial site and little by 
way of strong, distinctive local character in the immediate surrounding area to draw 
from, the scheme is not unacceptable in this respect. The lack of permeability to the 
Public Footpath and Gaunless Valley are a missed opportunity in good design terms, 
but ultimately not sufficient reason for refusal.

85. The proposed development would be visible from the Grade I Listed Building of St 
Andrews Church, located approximately 320m to the north. The development could 

Page 18



therefore be considered as falling within the setting of the heritage asset. However, 
in having appraised the development in this respect, the Design and Conservation 
Officer advises that there would be a neutral impact on the church due to the degree 
of separation, level changes, proposed planting on the northern boundary and 
general built up character of the wider area within which the site sits. Accordingly, 
having regard to section 66 of The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, it is considered that the development would have a neutral impact 
on the setting of the Listed Church and thereby preserve its setting and any historic 
significance it possesses.

86. In terms of Archaeology, the NPPF sets out the requirements for an appropriate 
programme of archaeological investigation, recording and publication of results.  The 
applicant has submitted a geophysical survey and has prepared a written scheme of 
archaeological investigation. In reviewing these documents the Council’s 
Archaeology Officer advises that subject to the investigation works being carried out 
before ground works commence the development should have a low risk of 
impacting on anything of archaeological interest.

87. Overall, it is therefore considered that on balance the development of the site would 
relate appropriately to the character of the surrounding area and would not appear 
intrusive in landscape terms. The integrity and amenity value of the River Gaunless 
corridor would not be adversely affected by the proposal, and neither would the 
setting of the Grade I Listed St Andres Church. The proposal therefore accords with 
Wear Valley Local Plan Policies GD1, H24, BE1 and BE17; policies 15, 39 and 44 of 
the emerging County Durham Plan; and NPPF sections 6, 11 and 12.

 
Highway Safety and accessibility 

88. Local Plan Policy T1 requires that development proposals achieve a satisfactory 
means of access onto the wider highway network while seeking to protect highway 
safety in terms of vehicle movements and traffic generation. Objections have been 
received in this respect regarding the proposed access from the development and 
the potential impacts on highway and conflict between different users of the road 
network. 

89. It is proposed that the existing access to the site would be stopped up and a new 
access formed approximately 15m to the east. This would be the only pedestrian and 
vehicular access into the site. The Highway Authority still favours the location of the 
existing access, which is off-set from that of an adjacent industrial complex opposite, 
but has advised that there are not sufficient highways safety grounds to object to the 
proposal as submitted. 

90. In respect of the impact of the development on the local highway capacity, the 
Highway Authority considers that the surrounding road network is capable of 
accommodating the additional vehicular flows associated with the development and 
would not lead to unacceptable conflict with industrial and commercial traffic, 
particularly considering there are already surrounding residential uses already 
sharing the road network.   

91. The proposed dwellings would provide at least 2 vehicle parking spaces, either 
through double driveways or through the provision of a garage and driveway. A 
number of visitor parking bays are also proposed. This would comply with the 
recently revised County residential car parking standards. There is however mention 
in the application that not all garages may necessarily be built, which is a concern for 
the Highway Authority. Acordingly, to ensure compliance with the County parking 

Page 19



standards, a condition is necessary to require hard standings for parking where 
garages are not built on individual plots. 

92. Overall, it is considered that the development would not lead to a severe cumulative 
highway impact and therefore accords with Wear Valley Local Plan policies GD1 and 
T1; policy 48 of the emerging County Durham Plan; as well as NPPF section 4. 

Impact on amenity of adjacent residents and future occupants 

93. Wear Valley Local Plan Policies GD1 and H24 require that new developments 
should protect the amenities of neighbouring uses. At present the site is open and 
the properties of Bigland Terrace, West View and Rosemount Court have a ready 
view across the site. The development will therefore reduce this open aspect and the 
current outlook experienced. However in considering this matter, the site layout 
would achieve the minimum separation distances of 21m between habitable room 
windows and 15m between gables and windowed elevations, which are considered 
acceptable relationships by policy H24 of the Local Plan. Although the relationship 
between 1 Bigland Terrace and plot no.10 would fall below this recommended 
distance (13m front to gable) the dwellings are staggered and therefore any impact is 
considered to be minimal. Therefore it is considered that although there would be a 
change to views experienced by neighbouring residents, this would not be to the 
extent that would cause harm to their amenity in respect of overbearing or loss of 
privacy. Concerns expressed about loss of view and impact on property values are 
not planning considerations which can be given any significant weight in the 
consideration of the application.

94. The Council’s Environmental Health Section has recommended conditions to restrict 
the working hours associated with the construction phase of the development and 
requiring a scheme of dust suppression to protect neighbours’ amenity. The 
application does include a site construction management plan outlining the abortion 
of noise and dust suppression techniques, but ultimately these construction related 
effects are matters which the planning system cannot reasonably prevent or control 
and there are controls outside of planning that deal with noise nuisance and other 
disturbance, which would be more appropriate controls than planning conditions.

95. In accordance with section 11 of the NPPF, particularly paragraph 123, and policy 18 
of the emerging County Durham Plan, consideration also has to be given to whether 
the amenity of the occupants of new development would be at risk from adjoining 
land uses and whether that would result in unreasonable restrictions on the 
operations of those land uses. It is noted that in this respect, the proposal would 
introduce a noise sensitive use adjacent to industrial premesis. This has been a 
source of concern expressed in the correspondence from the adjacent businesses.

96. A noise assessment was therefore requested and subsequently received. The 
submitted assessment concludes that subject to mitigation measures the garden and 
internal noise levels within the new properties would be acceptable. The suggested 
mitigation measures include a 2.5m high acoustic barrier and improvements to the 
glazing and the ventilation of the windows of the properties. The acoustic barrier 
would comprise of a 0.7m high mound with 1.8m high acoustic fence above for 
approximately 125m along the western site boundary. The Council’s Environmental 
Health Section have advised that the methodologies and recommendations of the 
noise report are sound and that the that the proposed mitigation measures would 
reduce the noise levels experienced from industrial uses to a level that would not be 
likely to generate significant levels of disturbance, both in the garden areas and 
within the new properties. It is therefore considered that the presence of the 
industrial units would not lead to an unacceptable loss of residential amenity for 

Page 20



future occupants and would not prejudice the future presence or operation of the 
industrial estate. It would be necessary to secure the implementation of the 
mitigation measures by condition and subject to this the proposal would comply with 
NPPF paragraph 123 and policy 18 of the emerging County Durham Plan. 

Ecology 

97. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF and policies 20 and 41 of the CDP requires that local 
planning authorities take into account, protect and mitigate the effects of 
development on biodiversity interests. The applicant has submitted an ecology report 
assessing the potential impacts of the development on protected species and 
biodiversity. This report concludes that there is a low risk of any protected species 
being located on site. Although the river corridor lies to the north, there is little 
species rich habitat on or immediately around the site and the development would 
not impact on the river corridor to the north.  

98. The Ecology Section offers no objection to the scheme subject to the implementation 
of the mitigation measures set out in the report which are to avoid ground clearance 
during the bird breeding season. It is therefore considered that the granting of 
planning permission would not constitute a breach of the Conservation of Habitats & 
Species Regulations 2010 and the Planning Authority can satisfy its obligations 
under these. 

Flooding and Drainage 

99. The NPPF and policy 46 of the CDP requires that consideration be given to issues 
regarding flooding particularly from surface water run-off and that developments 
adequately dispose of foul water in a manner that prevents pollution of the 
environment. 

100. In terms of the disposal of foul water, Northumbrian Water raise no objections to the 
scheme subject to a condition detailing the drainage system for approval. In support 
of the application a flood risk assessment has been submitted highlighting that the 
site lies within Flood Zone 1, it is also proposed that surface water discharge from 
the site would be restricted to greenfield runoff rates. Having considered this flood 
risk assessment the Environment Agency and Council’s Drainage Officer have no 
objections to the scheme subject to agreeing the full drainage details and layout, 
which can be secured by condition.

Other Issues

101. Planning plays a key role in helping to reduce greenhouse gas emissions providing 
resilience to the impacts of climate change, and supporting the delivery of renewable 
and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. This is central to the economic, 
social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development as set out in the 
NPPF. The development would be expected to achieve at least 10% of its energy 
supply from renewable resources. Although the applicant has undertaken a 
commitment to achieve this, no details have been supplied to show how this would 
be achieved. This matter however could be controlled by condition to demonstrate 
how energy efficiency would be addressed and to show the on-site measures to 
produce a minimum of 10% of the total energy requirements of the development 
from renewable energy sources. 

102. A land contamination survey has been undertaken on the site which identifies the 
low risk of contaminants being present. The Council’s Land Contamination Officer 

Page 21



considers the findings of the report sound subject to conditions requiring appropriate 
site investigations.

CONCLUSION

103. Although part of the site is safeguarded for open space purposes within the Wear 
Valley Local Plan, the designation is considered outdated because the previous 
allotment use that lead to the designation has ceased and the land has reverted to 
agriculture. Moreover a recent open space needs assessment highlights that there is 
a significant over provision of open amenity space in the area and the designation is 
not being carried forward into the emerging County Durham Plan.  The site is 
otherwise located within the defined development limits of Bishop Auckland and 
constitutes a sustainable, accessible location when assessed against the NPPF and 
emerging CDP. Development of the site would also boost housing land supply, 
without prejudicing the delivery of the emerging County Durham Plan and therefore a 
departure from the current Local Plan is justified in this instance. 

104. The viability of the scheme has been tested and in this instance it is considered 
appropriate to waive affordable housing provision in line with guidance in the NPPF 
and emerging plan. The scheme does however propose a mix of dwelling types and 
sizes and in this particular location would have an inherent degree of affordability. 
The full level of developer contributions towards offsite play space would be provided 
and secured through a S106 legal agreement. 

105. The density, layout and design of the development is realistic and adequate for the 
context, while having regard to section 66 of The Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 the setting of the Grade I Listed St Andrews Church 
would not be adversely affected.

106. The development would meet the appropriate separation distances to neighbouring 
properties and the proposed mitigation measures would suitably reduce noise 
impacts from the adjacent employment uses. 

107. The position of the new vehicular access is not optimal, however there are not 
sufficient highway safety grounds to justify refusal on this basis. The development 
would otherwise achieve appropriate parking provision levels and would not 
adversely impact on the local road network.

108. The development would not impact on any ecological interest of the site and 
therefore the granting of planning permission would not constitute a breach of the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 and the Planning Authority 
can satisfy its obligations under these. 

RECOMMENDATION

That the application is Approved subject to the completion of a satisfactory Section 106 
Legal Agreement to secure a financial contribution of £61,000 towards the 
provision/maintenance of open space and recreation facilities in the locality and entering 
into a training, recruitment and management employability plan; in addition to the following 
conditions and reasons:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Page 22



Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following approved plans:

Planning Layout, DRWG no. GH31:L:01 C, Received 4th February 2015
Soft Landscaping, DRWG no. GH31:L:03 C, Received 4th February 2015
Boundary Treatment Plan, DRWG No. GH31:L:04B, Received 6th February 2014
Garage Threshold / Gravel Drive Details and specification, DRG no. SD, Received 
15th July 2014
Detached Garage Details Single, DRWG no. SD700, Received 15th July 2014
Detached Garage Details Double, DRWG no. SD701, Received 15th July 2014
Detached Garage Details Triple, DRWG no. SD703, Received 15th July 2014
Construction Management Plan, Received 15th July 2014
Site Waste Management Plan, Received 15th July 2014 
Dwelling Type 201, DWRG No. 201/1F, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 202, DWRG No. 202/1F, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 301, DWRG No. 301/1G, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 302, DWRG No. 302/1G, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 303, DWRG No. 303/1E, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 304, DWRG No. 304/1E, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 307, DWRG No. 307/1A, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 309, DWRG No. 309/1D, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 310, DWRG No. 310/1D, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 311, DWRG No. 311/1A, Received 15th July 2014
Dwelling Type 401, DWRG No. 401/1G, Received 15th July 2014 
Dwelling Type 403, DWRG No. 403/1H, Received 15th July 2014

Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with Policies GD1, H24 and T1 of the Wear Valley District 
Local Plan.

3. No development shall commence unless in accordance with the Arboricultural 
Method Statement set out in Section 4 of the Tree Survey prepared by Elliot 
Environmental Surveyors (ref EES14-164) received 2nd December 2014.

Reason: In the interests of the preservation of trees and visual amenity having 
regards to Policies GD1 and H24 of the Wear Valley Local Plan

4. The Landscaping works detailed on the soft landscaping plan DRWG no. GH31:L:03 
C, Received 4th February 2015 shall be carried out within the first planting season 
following completion of development of the site and shall thereafter be maintained for 
a period of 5 years following planting. 

Reason: In order to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion, in the interests of visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance 
with policies GD1 and H24 of the Wear Valley District Local Plan. 

5. No development approved by this permission other than preliminary site excavation 
and remediation works shall commence until sections setting out existing and 
proposed site levels and the finished floor levels of the dwellings hereby approved 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved information. 

Page 23



Reason: In order to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion, in the interests of visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance 
with policies GD1 and H24 of the Wear Valley District Local Plan.

6. No development approved by this permission other than preliminary site excavation 
and remedial works shall commence until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul 
and surface water in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Assessment (ref MD0871/rep/001 Rev B) received 15th July 2014, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme thereafter. 

Reason: In the interest of the adequate disposal of surface water in accordance with 
Policy GD1 of the Wear Valley Local Plan. 

7. No development approved by this permission other than the digging of foundations 
and preliminary site excavation shall take place until a scheme to minimise energy 
consumption has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall consist of energy from renewable or low carbon sources 
provided on-site, to a minimum level of at least 10% of the total energy demand from 
the development, or an equivalent scheme that minimises carbon emissions to an 
equal level through energy efficient measures. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first 
occupation of the dwellings.

Reason: In the interest of the adequate disposal of surface water in accordance with 
Policy GD1 of the Wear Valley Local Plan and policy 1 of the County Durham Plan. 

8. No development shall be carried out unless in accordance with the mitigation 
detailed within the Ecological Appraisal Preliminary Ecological Appraisal compiled by 
Elliott Environmental Surveyors ref: EES14-112, received 15th July 2014 and 
addendum received 18th November 2014 including but not restricted to adherence to 
spatial restrictions; adherence to precautionary working methods as stated in the 
reports. 

Reason: To ensure the preservation and enhancement of species protected by law 
in accordance with policy 41 of the County Durham Plan and part 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Class A, Part 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) no fence or means of enclosure shall be erected 
forward of any wall of the dwellings hereby approved fronting onto a highway. 

Reason: In order to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion, in the interests of visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance 
with policies GD1 and H24 of the Wear Valley District Local Plan.

10. No development shall take place unless in accordance with the Archaeological 
Mitigation Strategy prepared by AD Archaeology received 8th December 2014.  Prior 
to first occupation of any dwelling, a copy of any analysis, reporting, publication or 
archiving required as part of the mitigation strategy shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason : To safeguard any Archaeological Interest in the site, and to comply with 
paragraphs 135 and 141 of the NPPF.

Page 24



11. No development approved by this permission other than preliminary site excavation 
and remediation works shall commence until details of the means of access, 
including the layout, construction details, and surfacing have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the dwellings hereby 
approved shall not be occupied until the approved access has been constructed, in 
accordance with the approved plans.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies GD1 and T1 
of the Wear Valley District Local Plan.

12. Where a garage is not constructed on an individual plot as set out on the proposed 
layout DRWG no. GH31:L:01 C, Received 4th February 2015 a similar sized and 
positioned hardstanding shall be provided in replacement and thereafter kept 
available at all times for the parking of private motor vehicles.

Reason: to ensure satisfactory incurtilage parking in the interests of highway safety 
in accordance with Policies GD1 and T1 of the Wear Valley District Local Plan.

13. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the acoustic mitigation 
measures detailed in the Noise Assessment complied by LA Environmental ref 
GD/DH/001 16th October 2014 and superseded by the Addendum Report Ref 
GD/DH/002 Received 6th January 2015 have bene implemented. The mitigation 
measures shall thereafter be retained in perpetuity.   

Reason: To protect the residential amenity of future residents from the adjacent 
industrial use to comply with Policy GD1 of the Wear Valley Local Plan

14. Within a period of 3 months from the date of the installation of the acoustic fencing 
required by condition 13, a detailed landscaping plan shall be submitted outlining the 
replanting, re stocking and enhancement of the vegetation along the western 
boundary of the site. The approved landscaping plan shall be implemented on site 
within the first planting season following its approval and shall thereafter be 
maintained for a minimum period of 5 years following planting. Any replanting shall 
be subject to the same minimum 5 year maintenance period.

Reason: In order to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development upon 
completion, in the interests of visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance 
with policies GD1 and H24 of the Wear Valley District Local Plan. 

15. Upon completion of the remedial works as detailed in the Geo-environmental 
Appraisal dated January 2014, a Phase 4 Verification Report (Validation Report) 
confirming the objectives, methods, results and effectiveness of all remediation 
works shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
within 2 months of completion of the development.

Reason:  To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risk to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with NPPF Part 11.

Page 25



STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT

The Local Planning Authority in arriving at the decision to refuse the application has sought 
to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning application.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Submitted Application Forms, Plans and supporting documents
National Planning Policy Framework 
Wear Valley District Local Plan
County Durham Plan (Submission version) 
Affordable Housing & CIL Development Viability Study
Statutory responses from Highway Authority, Environment Agency, Northumbrian Water 
Limited.
Internal responses from Highways Authority, Design and Historic Environment Section, 
Spatial Policy Section, Landscape Section, Archaeology Section, Environmental Health, 
Contaminated Land Section,  Sustainability, Ecology Section and Arboricultural Officer. 
Representations received from the public and other representative bodies.
Ecological and addendum report received 15th July 2014 and 18th November 2014
Heritage Statement Received 2nd December 2014
Archaeology Written Scheme of investigation received 8th December 2014
Noise impact Assessment and addendum report received 16th October 2014 and 6th 

January 2015 

Page 26



 

   Planning Services

Erection 61 dwellings, means of access and 
infrastructure 

CommentsThis map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission o Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005 Date  6th February 2014 Scale   1:2500

Application Site Proposed Access 
Location 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Services

COMMITTEE REPORT
APPLICATION DETAILS

APPLICATION NO: DM/14/03652/VOC

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: Removal of condition 7 of permission 6/2010/0083/DM 
(occupancy condition)

NAME OF APPLICANT: Mr Douglas Fox

ADDRESS:
Glencrest
Butterknowle
County Durham
DL13 5LW

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Evenwood

CASE OFFICER: Tim Burnham Senior Planning Officer 03000 263963 
tim.burnham@durham.gov.uk 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS

1. The application relates to a recently built and yet to be occupied bungalow, which is now 
called Camphill. Camphill bungalow was granted outline approval by the South West 
Planning Committee in May 2010 to provide proprietor/manager accommodation to the 
adjacent Glencrest Kennels and Cattery and thereby allow the current management to 
retire and remain in their existing bungalow Glencrest. The new bungalow sits to the north 
of Copley Lane and to the south of the main kennel buildings. The site is within the 
countryside and outside of any settlement boundary. The settlement of Copley lies to the 
west while the settlement of Butterknowle lies further to the north east. Because of its 
countryside location and business justification, the application was granted approval subject 
to an occupancy condition (no.7), which stated that:

2. “The occupation of the dwelling hereby approved shall be limited to a person solely or 
mainly employed in connection with the kennels/cattery or agriculture, or solely or mainly 
last employed, in the locality in agriculture as defined by section 336 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 or forestry, or a widow or widower of such a person, and to any 
resident dependents”

3. This application seeks the complete removal of this condition to allow unrestricted 
occupancy.

4. The application has been referred to committee by Cllr George Richardson on the basis 
that the business is shortly to close due to insufficient trade because of the abundance or 
such businesses possibly rendering the condition obsolete.

Page 29

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:tim.burnham@durham.gov.uk


PLANNING HISTORY

5. From 1979 to 1985 planning approvals were granted for the erection of Kennel and 
Cattery buildings. In 1997 permission was refused for the erection of a building for dog 
accommodation. Planning approval was granted in 2000 for change of use of small animal 
rooms into an office. In 2009 an outline application for a managers dwelling was refused. In 
2010 outline planning approval was granted for the erection of one dwelling to provide 
proprietor/manager accommodation. The reserved matters of access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale relating to the outline application were agreed in 2011. The 
dwelling was constructed during 2013 and 2014 and has yet to be occupied.

PLANNING POLICY

NATIONAL POLICY 

6. On March 27th 2012 the Government published the National Planning Policy Framework 
NPPF). However, the NPPF does not change the statutory status of the development plan 
as the starting point for decision making. Proposed development that accords with an up-to-
date Local Plan should be approved and proposed development that conflicts should be 
refused, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.

7. In accordance with paragraph 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the weight 
to be attached to relevant saved local plan policy will depend upon the degree of 
consistency with the NPPF.  The greater the consistency, the greater the weight. The 
relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment section of the 
report below.

8. NPPF Part 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes.  Paragraph 55 states 
that isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there are special 
circumstances such as the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near 
their place of work in the countryside.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full 
text, criteria, and justifications of each may be accessed at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf 

LOCAL PLAN POLICY: 

9. Teesdale District Local Plan.

10. H6 New dwellings in the countryside – This Policy states that new dwellings will not 
be permitted within the Countryside unless essential to the needs of agriculture or forestry 
and provided the need cannot be accommodated in a nearby town or village. Such 
properties would also be restricted by agricultural occupancy conditions.

11. H8 Removal of Agricultural Occupancy restrictions –This Policy states that the 
removal of agricultural occupancy conditions will only be permitted where the property has 
been occupied in accordance with the condition for at least 5 years, where at least one 
year’s marketing has taken place and details of any offers should accompany the 
application.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full 
text, criteria, and justifications of each may be accessed at http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3271/Teesdale-

Local-Plan

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3271/Teesdale-Local-Plan
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3271/Teesdale-Local-Plan


RELEVANT EMERGING POLICY:

The County Durham Plan

12. The emerging County Durham Plan was submitted in April 2014 and the main body of 
the plan has been examined in public. In accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF, 
decision takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the 
stage of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies; and, the degree of consistency of the policies in the emerging plan to the policies 
in the NPPF. 

13. Policy 35 Development in the Countryside is of some relevance.

In relation to a residential dwelling in a countryside location, this Policy may consider this 
acceptable where it would be considered necessary for the efficient or the continued viable 
operation of agriculture, horticulture, forestry, and/or other appropriate land based 
businesses, including the diversification of activities on existing farm units which do not 
prejudice the agricultural use.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full 
text, criteria, and justifications of each may be accessed at http://durhamcc-

consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/ps/psdlp 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES

STATUTORY RESPONSES:

14. Lynesack and Softley Parish Council have raised no objection to the application.

INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:

15. There have been no consultations in relation to this application

PUBLIC RESPONSES:

16. The application has been advertised by way of site notice. No responses have been 
received.

APPLICANTS STATEMENT: 

17. Mr & Mrs Fox established the Glencrest Kennels and Cattery in a Copley little over 34 
years ago in 1980, and it developed into a well-regarded business attracting custom from 
throughout the region. As recently as the start of 2010 they were planning forward for the 
future of the business by seeking and gaining planning permission for a new dwelling 
associated with the business in which a proprietor/manager could live, as they saw a 
transition being necessary in future years as they became older and were obliged to take a 
step away from the business. 

18. As part of their forward planning, they were also aware over recent years of the ever-
increasing demands placed on them for the continuous upgrading of the animal 
accommodation and facilities to meet licensing requirements. Whilst this investment 
requirement was built into their future planning, what Mr & Mrs Fox could not have foreseen 
was what has been a relatively speedy decline in their health, both suffering from a number 
of conditions which have greatly reduced their ability to function as an integral part of the 

Page 31

http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/ps/psdlp
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/ps/psdlp


kennels/cattery operations, and these circumstances have coincided with a significant 
impact on the business due to the economic conditions which have impacted particularly 
severely on the north-east region, this being very clearly manifested in relation to people’s 
ability to take holidays as they used to. If people with pets are not holidaying, particularly 
abroad, then they have little or no need for a boarding kennels/cattery and when they do, 
Mr & Mrs Fox have found that often long-terms clients of theirs find other kennels/catteries 
perhaps closer to the main centres of population, rather than travelling out to Copley. 

19. Thus whilst Mr & Mrs Fox have assiduously sought to plan for their future, the two 
unpredictables of the nature of the recession and their decline in health has significantly 
impacted on the business such that they have been obliged to now close the 
kennels/cattery to any new business, and they are presently winding down with only around 
half a dozen cats remaining on the premises as a result of earlier commitments. Mr & Mrs 
Fox feel that they could not have anticipated their current circumstances which have 
effectively conspired against their earlier future planning, and thus they would now request 
the Planning Committee to sympathetically consider their application to remove the 
occupancy condition relating to their new dwelling and enable them to live in the property 
which has been designed to recognise their health conditions and to maintain a decent 
quality of living.

The above represents a summary of the comments received on this application. The full written text is 
available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at http://plan-

1:8080/IDOXSoftware/IG_search?app_id=1002&FormParameter1=DM%2F14%2F03652%2FVOC 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT

20. Having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and all other   
material planning considerations, including representations received, it is considered that 
the main planning issues in this instance relate to the principle of the removal of the 
condition.

Policy Background

21. The condition in question restricts occupation of the dwelling to persons employed at 
the kennels, or in agriculture and therefore both Policies H6 and H8 of the Teesdale Local 
Plan are relevant. 

22. In this respect Policy H6 details that a new dwelling will not be permitted in the 
countryside unless it can be shown to be essential in any particular location to the needs of 
a countryside use (generally agriculture or forestry but accepted as a kennel use in this 
instance) that cannot be accommodated by existing dwellings and where a firm and robust 
financial justification is put forward. The original permission for the dwelling was granted on 
the basis that it met these criteria. 

23. Policy H8 relates further to the removal of agricultural occupancy restrictions. It states 
that the removal of agricultural occupancy conditions will only be permitted where the 
property has been occupied under the condition for at least 5 years, where the property has 
been marketed thoroughly for at least one year and where details of any offers accompany 
the application. The supporting text to Policy H8 relates to the removal of agricultural 
occupancy conditions. It states that:
 

Page 32

http://plan-1:8080/IDOXSoftware/IG_search?app_id=1002&FormParameter1=DM%2F14%2F03652%2FVOC
http://plan-1:8080/IDOXSoftware/IG_search?app_id=1002&FormParameter1=DM%2F14%2F03652%2FVOC


24. The Local Planning Authority will not normally consent to the removal of agricultural 
occupancy conditions. If such conditions were to be removed it would encourage disposal 
of dwellings out of the agricultural sector, reducing the stock of houses available for 
agricultural works and create demands for further houses to be built in the countryside. 
Such conditions will only be removed if it can be established that the long terms needs for 
agricultural workers dwellings in the area no longer warrant retention of the house for farm 
worker or dependant, and that the property has been marketed thoroughly and realistically. 

25. The National Planning Policy Framework is relevant at Paragraph 55. It states that 
Local Planning Authorities should avoid new isolated homes in the countryside unless there 
are special circumstances such as the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently 
at or near their place of work in the countryside.

26. There is no specific policy relating to removal of occupancy restrictions in the Emerging 
County Durham Plan. Policy 35 relates more generally to development within the 
Countryside development, which is only considered acceptable where the development 
proposals are considered necessary for the efficient or the continued viable operation of 
agriculture, horticulture, forestry, and/or other appropriate land based businesses. This 
policy however, while part of the decision making process, should only be afforded limited 
weight at this time.

Principle of the removal of the condition

27. The outline application establishing the principle of the dwelling on this site in the 
countryside was approved in 2010, subject to the imposed occupancy restriction in line with 
Teesdale Local Plan Policy H6. The whole argument behind the application was that the 
new dwelling would allow the current owners to retire from the business and remain in the 
existing bungalow (Glencrest) that they had lived in for 31 years and which had become 
adapted to their health requirements, while the new dwelling would provide the necessary 
on-site accommodation (to meet licence requirements) for any new management. They 
argued strongly that the business would have to close should approval not be granted for 
the additional manager’s dwelling. Members of the Planning Committee accepted the 
argument that granting approval of the new dwelling would mean the continued operation of 
the business with associated retention of jobs and positive (albeit modest) economic impact 
in the local area.

28. However, now on immediate completion of the dwelling, and contrary to their previous 
assertions that the dwelling was required to save the business on their retirement, the 
applicants are seeking to close the business and remove the occupancy restriction on the 
new dwelling to allow its unrestricted occupancy. The application states that this is because 
of falling profits and need for additional investment to bring the kennel facilities up to 
modern standards, which makes the business unviable. In support, the application provides 
accounting details of the last 6 years showing variable levels of net profit over each year.

29. It is apparent from these figures that the business has still remained profitable in each 
of those years and it is noted that the business survived the recession of 2008 and 2009, 
achieving its highest net profit during that difficult period in 2009. The application suggests 
the reason for declining profits since is the establishment of other kennels in the area and 
general lack of demand. 

30. However, while there may be other similar businesses in the wider area, competition in 
business is not unusual and it is apparent from the application details that ill health is likely 
to have affected the current owners’ ability to be as fully committed to the business as they 
were previously. In addition, there has not been the necessary investment made to keep 
the facilities up to standard and competitive with other similar businesses. There are also no 
details provided of how and whether the business has been sufficiently and competitively 

Page 33



advertised. It is considered likely that the combination of these factors have contributed to 
the falling profits. This does not mean that the business couldn’t be more successfully 
operated by someone else more able to commit time, enthusiasm and investment into 
moving the business forward. That was after all the intended plan from the start with the 
current owners always stating their intention to retire from the business and new owners 
taking over. 

31. The dwelling has been constructed in full knowledge of the financial situation of the 
business and awareness of the occupancy condition. The occupancy condition was also 
specifically worded to include occupation by an agricultural worker in the event that the 
kennels closed, but this has not been evidenced as an option that has been explored before 
seeking to remove the restriction.

32. The proposal is therefore in direct conflict with Teesdale Local Plan Policy H8, which 
requires evidence of marketing carried out before considering removal of an agricultural 
occupancy condition. While there is no longer any specific requirement for marketing under 
the NPPF, it remains a reasonable approach and relevant to any rural commercial 
occupancy restriction on dwellings in the countryside given the NPPF’s continued 
presumption against isolated dwellings in the countryside, except where there is an 
essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of work. 

33. Removal of the condition at this time would be likely to jeopardise the prospects of any 
interest in the business because it is a licence requirement of any kennels/cattery that there 
has to be permanent residential presence on the site. Even in the unlikely event there is 
interest in the business without a dwelling, it could lead to proposals for another dwelling on 
site to satisfy the licence requirements, because neither of the two existing dwellings would 
be available. Further, there is also no guarantee that the business will be closed down, 
although removal of any tied dwelling would likely seal its fate, but until it has and all 
associated buildings are removed, there will always remain potential for proposals for a new 
manager’s dwelling on the site with a resultant harmful impact on the openness and 
character of the rural landscape. It is therefore considered that the application to remove 
the condition has come too soon before closure of the business.

34. Previously the applicants argued strongly that they wanted to stay in their current 
dwelling on retirement, but it is noted that Glencrest is up for sale. If it is the case now that 
the applicants want to live in the new dwelling, they could do so in compliance with the 
condition with the option existing (subject to the agreement of the LPA and the completion 
of the necessary legal agreements) to transfer the occupancy tie over to Glencrest by S106 
legal agreement, but that is not part of this application.

Other issues

35. There are no other issues of significance raised by this application as no physical 
development is proposed. It is not considered that any new highways related issues would 
be introduced in relation to the use of the dwelling without the condition, with Highways 
Development management raising no objection to the previously approved application for 
the bungalow.
  
CONCLUSION

36. It was fairly recent in 2010 that the original outline approval was granted on the basis of 
strong arguments made that the business would have to close should approval not be 
granted for the additional manager’s dwelling. Now on completion of the dwelling, the 
owners state they intend to close the business anyway because it is not viable. However, it 
is considered very likely that personal factors and lack of investment have contributed to the 

Page 34



decline of the business. It was always the applicants’ intention to retire from the business 
and have someone else take over its management and it is possible that new owners could 
inject the enthusiasm and investment needed to move what is still a profitable business 
forward. If the occupancy condition was removed at this stage it would be likely to 
jeopardise the prospects of any interest in the business because it is a licence requirement 
of any kennels/cattery that there has to be permanent residential presence on the site and 
none of the two existing dwellings would be available. Conversely, it could also result in 
proposals for another manager’s dwelling on the site if the business was taken over by 
another party with none of the existing dwellings being available. This would only cease to 
be a concern after the business closed and if all buildings were subsequently removed from 
the site, thereby removing any potential demand for another manager’s dwelling.

37. However, condition 7 is not purely limited to occupancy in relation to the kennels, it also 
allows occupancy by an agricultural worker and there is no evidence of any marketing 
carried out to determine whether there is demand in this respect. 

38. If the applicants wish to move from Glencrest into the new dwelling there are other 
options which could secure the transfer of the occupancy restriction to Glencrest if they so 
wished, but that would require a separate application and legal agreement.

39. In conclusion, it is considered that there is currently insufficient justification for removal 
of the condition as proposed that would, if allowed, result in an un-restricted residential 
dwelling in a countryside location where new dwellings would not normally be permitted. 
The proposal to remove the occupancy condition from the property is therefore, at this 
stage, contrary to Teesdale Local Plan Policy H8 and the aims of the NPPF in respect of 
the special circumstances to justify unrestricted houses in the countryside. 

RECOMMENDATION

That the application be REFUSED for the following reason;

40. There is insufficient justification for the proposed removal of the occupancy condition, 
which was required because of the location of the dwelling in the countryside where un-
restricted dwellings would not normally be permitted, particularly when the business is not 
yet closed and no evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that the property has been 
marketed for agricultural occupancy.  The proposal therefore fails to meet the requirements 
of Teesdale Local Plan Policy H8 to remove occupancy conditions and is contrary to the 
fundamental aims of the NPPF in respect of the special circumstances to justify houses in 
the countryside (paragraph 55).

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Submitted application form, plans supporting documents and subsequent information
provided by the applicant.
The National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes
Teesdale Local Plan
The County Durham Plan (Submission Draft)
Statutory consultation response

Page 35



   Planning Services

Removal of condition 7 of permission 
6/2010/0083 (occupancy condition)

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission o 
Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown 
copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceeding.
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005

19th February 2015

Page 36


	Agenda
	4 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 December 2014
	5a DM/14/02040/FPA - Dovecot Hill, South Church, DL14 6TA
	5b DM/14/03652/VOC - Glencrest, Butterknowle, DL13 5LW

